IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-001598

RECEIVED
DEC 20 2024
SC Court of Appeals

Karen Oliver

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Housing and
Redevelopment Authority

Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Karen Oliver, Pro Se
1945 Ghana Street
Johns Island, S.C. 29455
(843) 303-3410

Other Counsel on Record
Parker Nelson & Associates, CTHD
Theodore Parker III
Carlton Bowers
320 Broad Street Suite 240
Charleston, S.C. 29401

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Did the Circuit Court Judge, Bentley Price, violate the Appellant's constitutional rights to an appeal (one appeal) that is guaranteed by the Fourteenth and Fifth Amendments that every person has a right to due process?
2. Did Judge Price violate the Appellant's constitutional rights by refusing to allow the Respondent or their attorney to present their motion to dismiss the appeal and turning it into an actual appeal hearing without notice, contrary to the summons to appear provided by the court?
3. At the magistrate level, Judge Laura Waring, admittedly claimed to not know the guidelines and the policies and procedures governing the hearing process that is guaranteed by the agreement between the Public Housing Authority (hereinafter, PHA) and the Housing and Urban Development (hereinafter, HUD) to ensure that the tenant's rights are not being violated along with the PHA's rights; The Appellant as a beneficiary has a constitutional right to due process regardless of the lack of knowledge at the magistrate court level to an equitable process. The judge would not allow the then Defendant to question any witness for testimony that had personal knowledge of the hearing process, the CEO instructions concerning the hearing, their role in not adhering to policy/procedures, and possibly perjury, etc. All of which helped with a constructive illegal eviction. SCRCF, Rule 13 *Magistrates* was violated by the Judge which again violated the Defendant's right to due process in not allowing the questioning of the Code of Federal Regulations to be violated in relations to its mandated regulation in the hearing process that is in place to prevent constructive illegal eviction like the one the judge helped to facilitate.

4. The refusal by Judge Laura Waring to allow the then, Defendant now Appellant to call the representatives present at the illegal eviction proceedings from the PHA to the stand as witnesses to be questioned by the then Defendant now Appellant about the hearing procedures/policy, the CEO's instructions concerning good faith operating practices? Did the magistrate judge, Laura Waring, violate the magistrate level SCRCF Rule 13 and the then Defendant now Appellant's right to due process with prejudice by not ensuring that the "Essential Services" (which is illegal not to have) were in place at the illegal eviction hearing and at the Bond to Stay after she was provided pictures of violations with the septic tank for one, and wastewater, its cleanup that has not been remedied to date 1.5 year later by time this reaches the justices?
5. Did the magistrate judge further violate the Appellant's right to due process by not allowing witness testimony/questioning who personally was involved in the matter to be question about the "no eviction" policy during the pandemic, the remedies set aside for tenants to prevent evictions (repayment plan, emergency rental relief) that were being withheld by the then Plaintiff in retaliation for the tenant going to HUD for repair of some "Essential Services" that were and some still are in violation of the state statutes. While in violation of magistrates' Rule 13 the judge would not allow a video that substantiates the claim that a "no eviction" policy during the pandemic was invoked by the PHA's chairman of their board to which they were still operating under. The judge imposed an extra criterion for the video that was contrary to SCRCF, Rule 1001. Notwithstanding the video met the extra condition and the judge still refused to view for relevancy.

6. Is the Respondent in violation of state statutes and federal regulations by fraudulently misrepresenting and offering a lease at almost double the cost on a residence that then CEO, Property Manager and Director of Maintenance concurred was not up to industry standards and to date still isn't up to code (but was fraudulently stated in the illegal motion to have been addressed appropriately) that is in violation of state statutes and the Code of Federal Regulations? Along with inciting fear, desperation through retaliatory means by not providing the complainant access to the same means of relief (repayment plan or access donated funds for the prevention of evictions) that HUD and the Charleston County Emergency Rental Assistance Program provided to assist tenants to avoid evictions through lack of dealing in Good Faith. Did the judge violate public policy by not addressing the denial of access to remedies set aside to prevent eviction that was not in good faith dealing when it was brought before her after the denial of witnesses for the Defendant to question?
7. Did the Respondent's illegal motion violate 24 CFR § 966.4 (m) and 24 CFR §966.6 (g) and provides a fraudulent misrepresentation of the 9/7/22 magistrate hearing that were no errors in law or fact also cites more contradictory untruths that are also a violation of the good faith dealing of §27-40-220?

Statement of the Case

1. Tenant/Appellant turned in son's change to income (August 2021), no adjustments made to rent; Tenant tried to alert them of that change.
2. Tenant/Appellant did not have proof of her change until after the New Year (1/22). But the tenant/Appellant held on the checks to return; no envelope except for one was opened to see what it was.
3. CCHRA demanded all retroactive rent at once March 2022.
4. Tenant/Appellant tried unsuccessfully to get a time to meet with CCHRA agent Stephanie Gladden. The offices were closed for person-to-person meetings (continued to operate covid protocol), Then, asked for contact information of the person for HUD covering CCHRA via text messages.
5. Tenant/Appellant received a Notice of Lease Termination April 2022.
6. Tenant/Appellant requested a hearing.
7. The tenant/Appellant was not provided with hearing procedures as rules prescribed.
8. Tenant/Appellant did not receive hearing date within 10 business days as indicated it was policy by Bryant Sanders. Tenant complained; Stephanie Gladden did not meet resident as arranged to correct the matter (before leaving to go to training); Mr. Green a then, staff member was directed to tamper with the tenant's mailbox by Bryant Sanders after coming unannounced to the residence. Bryant Sanders (who is no longer there) started raising his voice after being told that you are telling your staff to commit a federal offense; they were already trespassing; Bryant Sanders was rude and abrasive again to the tenant/Appellant; Stephanie Gladden ended up apologizing for

not showing up as planned so the tenant/Appellant could secure a hearing date. But still no hearing procedures were provided as policy states.

9. Once a hearing officer (Ginean Mazyck who is no longer there) made contact the tenant/Appellant had to tell her that she must provide the hearing procedures; 6/15/22 the procedures were finally obtained, the tenant/Appellant requested on 6/14/22 specific documentation (i.e., policy/procedure with HUD that allows for units that are under industry standards to be rented as if they weren't and why it was not being indicated in the leases; policy/procedure for repayment plan on retroactive rent that HUD announced would take place, flat rate rent being increased on units in violation of the safety codes, etc.); The hearing officer scheduled two different meeting dates, but did not provide any of the other documentation that were requested or access to them. She relied on 5.0 of the hearing procedure that the PHA or tenant cannot use it if it is not provided. Yet, that is not for the termination of the lease. They must produce the documentation.
10. Tenant requested a phone conference with the then CEO Franklin Scott (no longer there) on May 19, 2022, due to the stress and toll it was taking of trying to get them to do their jobs properly; to report the intimidation and telling of staff to trespass and commit a federal offense all while trying to recover from the drunk driver hitting the tenant/Appellant; The tenant asked to be a part of the Board of Commissioner's meeting to gain a resolution and for an investigation of the staff being directed to trespass and commit a federal offense at the tenant's residence. The CEO informed the tenant/Appellant that she **would never** talk to the board chairman. He told Bryant Sanders and Stephanie Gladden that they must have the hearing... they were present

for the call; the CEO acknowledge that there were many units not up to industry standards but everyone had to be patient; tenant explained how mold/mildew was in the home affecting their health; it has been ongoing; having to stop taking classes on-line; how the rent was nearly doubled (over a thousand dollars) for a place with a leaking roof, ceiling falling down in all but one room (bathroom), animals coming in the walls, mold/mildew etc. and a more recent incident hazard (that still has not been addressed);

11. Chairman of Board sent email May 20, 2022, stating board members not allowed to get involved in operational affairs; Contradicting 7.0 of the hearing procedures; residents never made aware of this change in rules; Contradicts video message interview about open door policy of his.
12. HUD was contacted on May 31, 2021. Inquired who do residents go to if property manager, Supervisor over them and maintenance doesn't answer, CEO doesn't respond properly and B.O.C. members won't talk to tenants or address issues? HUD stepped in by request.
13. Bryant Sanders sent an email on June 3, 2022, informing/alerting about the delivery of supplies for the roof; the roof was leaking at that precise time throughout the house and in the room where I was sitting; when I got the email.
14. The hearing officer provided one hearing date during the time when HUD initiated work began. She never produced any documentation; the tenant also made the requests to include Bryant Sanders, and the property manager/agent Stephanie Gladden in an effort to have the hearing. Still no documentation; (dates of requests made June 3, June 14, June 21)

15. July 5, 2022, inside work began on the ceiling via HUD; still nothing from the hearing officer or the others.
16. August 2022 septic system began to act up, gurgling sounds; a Writ for Ejectment came; Tenant/Appellant contacted the magistrate for a hearing date.
17. August 11, 2022, CCHRA filed a Writ of Ejectment
18. September 5, 2022, septic system began to overflow in immediate back yard; Reported to Stephanie Gladden again at court office closed for holiday making sure she listened to message left while she prepared for court.
19. September 7, 2022, hearing at Magistrates court; magistrate refused to allow witnesses who have personal knowledge to be questioned and for rebuttal contrary to magistrate's rules nor the video (showing no ejectment) was allowed; magistrate ruled for eviction Stephanie Gladden refused to allow the tenant/Appellant for participation in CCHRA's repayment plan before the magistrate; She also reported the hearing officer made a final decision unbeknownst to the tenant. The magistrate told the tenant she could have appealed the hearing officer's decision. The Magistrate was mistaken because the 5-20-22 email from the B.O.C. contradicts that. The magistrate previously claimed to not know the hearing policy.
20. Defendant/tenant appealed the magistrate's decision to the circuit court 9/8/22. Tenant/Appellant asked the involved staff at CCHRA to repent along with a Cease and Desist. Most of the staff involved are now gone.
21. Bond to Stay hearing held 9/21/22; magistrate held that if she charged me the rent that has not been agreed upon, she (tenant) would just appeal. The attorney for the Plaintiff was present; After the hearing tenant/Appellant spoke with C. Bowers asking

him to not let this snowball and that they (CCHRA) were not being honest with him; he would not engage in further conversation.

22. Magistrate said their office was not set up to take payments and the payments must be made directly to landlord; Tenant had magistrate to do a supplemental order to adjust how it was written to reflect this deviation from the already signed documentation on 9/27/22.
23. Tenant/Appellant notified PHA about continued issue with wastewater overflow; apologized to neighbors for the nuisance.
24. Tenant/Appellant was advised to contact DHEC; DHEC gave CCHRA notice on 11-2-22 for the Unpermitted/Unapproved Domestic Wastewater and time limit to resolve it.
25. Sandino Moses, chairman of Board of Commissioners introduce measure to prevent board members from discussing any CCHRA business with tenants one on one.
26. Summons to Appear for Motion to Dismiss Appeal, but no copy of motion was ever received from their attorney.
27. Hearing for the motion to dismiss the appeal not held as stated on the summons to appear, but on 5/31/23; appeal dismissed
28. Order dated August 7, 2023; Appeal denied.
29. Amend a Judgement sent to circuit judge August 17, 2023,
30. Order dated September 7, 2023, for denial.
31. Notice of Intent to Appeal sent to opposing party's attorneys October 24, 2023.

Standard of Review

De Novo Review

Due process requires (1) adequate notice; (2) adequate opportunity for a hearing; (3) the right to introduce evidence; and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. In re Vora, 354 S.C. 590, 595, 582 S.E.2d 413, 416 (2003).

Not allowing the cross-examination of witnesses doesn't provide meaningful opportunity to be heard. Clear Channel Outdoor v. City of Myrtle Beach, 372 S.C. 230, 235, 642 S.E.2d 565, 567 (2007).

Argument

1. Did the Circuit Court Judge, Bentley Price, violate the Appellant's constitutional rights to an appeal (one appeal) that is guaranteed by the Fourteenth and Fifth Amendments that every person has a right to due process?

Circuit Court Judge Bentley Price violated the Appellant's constitutional rights as prescribed in the Fourteenth and Fifth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution that everyone has a right to due process which includes one (1) appeal. The clause in **Section One** of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides...*nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.*

Judge Bentley Price through the commission of legal error denied the Appellant's right to have the appeal heard which resulted in prejudice to the defendant. The Fifth Amendment **fourth section** is commonly referred to as the "due process" clause. *No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use without just compensation.* Judge Bentley Price further violated public policy within the South Carolina Code of Laws Rule 72, *Judgments and Orders Subject To Appeal: Appeal may be taken, as provided by law, from any final judgment or appealable order.* Within authority 42 U.S.C. 1437d and 3535(d): 24 Code of Federal Regulations Subpart A §966.6 (g) (2017) *Prohibited lease provisions. Waiver of right to appeal judicial error in legal proceedings: Authorization to the landlord's lawyer to waive the right to appeal for judicial error in any suit or to waive the right to file a suit in equity to prevent the execution of a judgment.* HUD distinctly prohibits section/part (g) to even be placed in a lease current or new. It is a violation of a person's constitutional right. Therefore, it is reasonable expectation that tenants can rely

on it not being used to violate their constitutional rights at any proceedings involving the PHA to which an appeal can't be carried out in court. The Respondent's attorneys are in violation of filing an illegal/prohibited motion, and Judge Bentley Price committed a legal error by not allowing the motion to dismiss the appeal to be presented and defended against. The summons to appear did not state it would be for the actual appeal itself. It was for the motion to dismiss the appeal. The Appellant argues that Judge Price refusal to allow the Respondent or Respondent's attorney to present their matter before the court for the Appellant to defend but the judge turned it into an appeal hearing violated the Appellant's right to due process. The summons to appear did not say for an appeal to be heard, but a motion to dismiss the appeal. Judge Price abused his discretion and committed legal error by turning the hearing into an appeal without adequate notice, adequate opportunity for the hearing, the right to bring forth evidence.

1. U.S. Const. amend, V, § 4.
2. U.S. Const. amend, XIV, § 1.
3. 24 CFR § 966.6 (g) (2017)
4. *In re Vora*, 354 S.C. 590, 595, 582 S.E.2d 413, 416 (2003).

2. Did Judge Price violate the Appellant's constitutional rights by refusing to allow the Respondent or their attorney to present their motion to dismiss the appeal and turning it into an actual appeal hearing without notice, contrary to the summons to appear provided by the court?

Judge Bentley Price refused to allow the Respondent's attorney to orally present their case for the illegal motion to the court. What judge does that? When the Appellant asked the judge, "Shouldn't he go first since he brought the motion," the judge refused. *The Transcript* p. 3 lines 9-14 of the proceeding will show the only words that the Respondent's attorney, Carlton Bowers, spoke. He never spoke on the contents or merit of the motion and why the Appellant's constitutional rights should be violated while the Respondents were already in violation of the Code of Federal Regulations and state statutes that govern them (R. p.000046, lines 9-14). That is not how any of the cases prior to the Appellant's took place on the docket of May 31, 2023. Every other person bringing their matter before the court prior to the Respondent's appearance was provided time to present (Plaintiff) and the other party time to respond (Defendant) and defend. Judge Price claimed to have read the motion, but still had to inquire who was bringing it before the court (Transcript p. 3 lines 2-4), (R.p.000048, lines, 2-4). He didn't claim to have already read the matters of the other parties in their matter after a two-hour delay with the ninth solicitor's case. Since jurisdiction was already established the right to defend was upended by the judge's refusal to allow the motioning party to speak any further. If the judge was not going to hear the Motion to Dismiss the Appeal and just wanted to hear the Appellant's appeal, it should have been indicated in the Summons to

Appear. Through prejudice against the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss the Appeal was heard without any of them speaking about it. Unconscionable biased and contrary to public policy. The Appellant was not given the opportunity to address the wrongful claims made by the Respondent's attorney for the Motion to Dismiss via rebuttal. It can't be rebutted if it is not presented. *The purpose of a summons is to acquire jurisdiction of the defendant and give him notice of action and an opportunity to appear and defend.* WL5944276 (S.C. Ct. App 2023). Jurisdiction was already established, but if the Respondent isn't allowed to speak and present their matter to the judge so the opposing party can defend it is an abuse of discretion and committed legal error by the judge. The judge should not have turned it into an appeal as the summons was not for an appeal. The summons must indicate appeal if it was only for an appeal and not a motion to dismiss the appeal (Transcript p. 3 lines 12-14). The Respondent's attorney informed the court, *"It was a motion and denial of her appeal, so it was all in one. I thought we were here today to argue against her appeal."*(R.p. 000046, lines 12-14). Somehow Judge Price was on a different page or case and refused to allow the Respondent or their attorney to speak any further (Transcript p. 3, lines 15-17) (R. p. 000046, lines 15-17). Judge Price: *"That's correct. So, it's your appeal, ma'am. Be happy to hear from you."* That should have been said to the Respondent not the Appellant. The Appellant never got a copy of the motion served contrary to the Certificate of Service. Customarily, the motion court allows 8 minutes for the merits of the motion and 8 pieces of exhibits/evidence for the person presenting the motion. It took over two months to get the signed Order August 7, 2023, which supported this illegal motion, and illegal eviction by denying the Appellant's constitutional right to an appeal and falsely claimed it was only about the admissibility of

evidence. However, with it being an illegal motion that violated public policy and the Respondent's attorney not having to speak a word before the court shows the prejudice and lack of commitment to the integrity of the judicial process on behalf of Judge Bentley Price, an extreme legal error. (Transcript p. 9 lines 11-22) (R.p.000052, lines 11-22). Judge Price indicates that he is only to hear matters of law. Again, if he was there only to hear matters of law for a motion to dismiss the appeal, shouldn't he have allowed the Petitioner, the Respondent's attorney, to speak? Notice of this change should have been provided and the court also notified. Concluding with no other words spoken by the motion's submitter except p.3 lines 9-14.

1. WL 5944276 (S.C. Ct. App 2023).
2. *Transcript* p. 1 lines 2-4, 9-14, and 15-17
3. *Transcript* p. 9 lines 11-22.

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