RECEIVED

May 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001598

Karen Oliver.....Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Housing and Redevelopment Authority.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
CHARLESTON COUNTY HOUSING AND REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Theodore Parker III
Carlton D. Bowers
Parker Nelson & Associates
320 Broad Street, Ste 240
Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
CHARLESTON COUNTY HOUSING
AND REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE MAGISTRATE PROPERLY EXCLUDED EVIDENCE PROVIDED BY THE DEFENDANT/APPELLANT AS NOT REVELANT

A. APPELLANT'S PROFFERED VIDEO EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED UNDER THE RELEVANCE STANDARD

Relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. S.C.R.E. Rule 401. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible. S.C.R.E. Rule 402. Evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. S.C.R.E. Rule 403. Our courts have defined unfair prejudice as "an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis." *Johnson v. Horry Cnty. Solid Waste Auth.*, 389 S.C. 528, 534, 698 S.E.2d 835, 838 (Ct. App. 2010). The law in South Carolina closely follows the Federal Rule where relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149

(1991). Trial judges have properly limited the defendant's presentation of certain evidence to guard against confusion of the jury by the injection of collateral issues. See *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532.

Evidence is "relevant" when it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." S.C.R.E. Rule 401, *see also State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991)("Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears"). The test for relevancy is not stringent, and its standard is not difficult to vault. *See State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004)("Evidence is admissible if 'logically relevant' to establish a material fact or element of a crime; it need not be necessary to the State's case in order to be admitted.").

"A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). "We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment." *Id.* The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case. *State v. Brooks*, 341 S.C. 57, 62, 533 S.E.2d 325, 327 (2000). Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one. *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reserved only in exceptional circumstances. *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 357, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593 (Ct. App. 2001). Photographs may be allowed if they corroborate testimony but not if they are calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of

the jury and should be excluded if they are not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions. *State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997). “Demonstrative evidence includes items such as a photograph, chart, diagram, or video animation that explains or summarizes other evidence and testimony. Such evidence has secondary relevance to the issues at hand; it is not directly relevant, but must rely on other material testimony for relevance. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 383, 529 S.E.2d 528, 535 (2000).

In *State v. Collins*, the Supreme Court ruled the trial court did not abuse its wide scope of discretion in admitting the pre-autopsy photographs since it was highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of the offenses charged. 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014)(where the probative value outweighed its potential prejudice). In *Watts v. Chastain*, a video was relevant because it provided information as to the position of the vehicles, timing of the collisions at issue, roadway conditions and whether motorists had their lights on despite not showing the collision. 438 S.C. 597, 608-09, 886 S.E.2d 398, 404 (Ct. App. 2022). The standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial, rather, the standard under Rule 403, S.C.R.E. is whether there is danger of unfair prejudice that substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. at 536, 763 S.E.2d at 28.

Appellant intended to introduce an online video of former CCHRA Board Chairman, Mr. Sandino Moses, conducting an interview with Mr. Quintin Washington. Appellant intended to use the entire video as a reference to CCHRA’s policies on evictions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Appellant contends the entire recording was made in 2021 of Mr. Sandino, a speech he made under COVID Restrictions regarding CCHRA’s publicized position of not evicting people during the pandemic. Ret. of Mag.; R. p. 2. Appellant claims the video was an offer that CCHRA was not going to evict any tenants during COVID, and that Appellant “accepted the offer.” Ret. of Mag.;

R. p. 2. At the time of the eviction proceeding, CCHRA objected to the relevancy of the video, and such objections were sustained. *Id.* The thirty-six-minute video was excluded.

Appellant contends “the judge refused to listen to or view a recording of an interview with the Chairman of the board for CCHRA making a declaration concerning evictions.” Ret. of Mag.; R. p. 16. “The judge allowed the Plaintiff to review a snippet of the video and made her decision to exclude it from evidence without being informed of its content and relevancy.” *Id.* Appellant admits “Plaintiff indicated that she was not aware of the video,” and also claims “it should not matter whether or not the Plaintiff had previous knowledge of the video.” *Id.* Appellant claims “instructions for Eviction Hearings as provided by the Magistrate Court does not indicate how videos are to be presented.” *Id.* Appellant’s statements are misleading as the “Instruction for Evictions Hearings” state:

3. Parties may come to court and speak for themselves, or they may have a lawyer represent them. If you want a lawyer, you should get one right away.

...

6. It is the parties’ responsibility to bring any witnesses or other evidence they want the Court to consider because the Court does not accept written witness statements, even notarized ones.

7. The Court will not telephone a witness to take testimony.

8. The Court cannot reschedule a case because a witness is not present unless the witness is under subpoena.

9. The Court will issue subpoenas to any witnesses if you advise the Court at least 10 days before trial of the name, address, and phone number of the witness. If you wish to subpoena a witness in your county, you will have to mail or deliver a fee of \$8.00 to the magistrate’s court for preparing and serving a subpoena. The party requesting the subpoena is required to pay the subpoenaed witness fee of \$25.00 plus mileage for each day’s attendance.

Ret. of Mag.; R. p. 27. The instructions outline the protocol for not only bringing evidence but the process for obtaining witnesses.

At all times prior to the hearing, Appellant had access to a video she claims is pertinent to a contractual agreement between her and CCHRA. Appellant received a copy of the written instructions for evidence prior to the eviction proceeding. Appellant intended to offer a video into evidence, which was excluded based upon relevancy grounds. Appellant was aware of the requirement to conform to the eviction proceeding rules by issuing a subpoena to any witness she wished to question at the hearing. The Appellant failed to follow the protocols of the magistrate court, and instead sought to introduce an interview of the Board Chairman in place of testimony. Appellant intended to introduce the entire interview as an offer for her to resume her tenancy at a CCHRA property without payment of rent. The video was properly excluded, since the introduction of the video is highly prejudicial where its probative value is significantly outweighed by its prejudice.

Not only did Appellant fail to demonstrate the video was relevant to the issue of non-payment of rent, Appellant was unable to overcome the prejudicial nature of the video since the declarant was unavailable to corroborate the video. The Record on appeal demonstrates that CCHRA filed its application for ejection for the tenant's failure to pay rent, which included a failure to recertify in accordance with the rules and obligations of the Lease. Tenants of Public Housing Authorities are required to supply any information requested by the Authority for use in a regularly scheduled or interim reexamination. *See* PIH 2018-08 (“Administrative Guidance for Effective and Mandated Use of the Enterprise Income Verification (EIV) System”) para. 13. In addition, the Appellant intended to submit an interview from 2021, but the eviction proceedings were commenced in 2022. *Ret. of Mag.; R. p. 1. Housing and Urban Development (HUD) does not authorize any Public Housing Authority amnesty or debt forgiveness programs. PIH 2018-08, para. 16.*

B. APPELLEANT’S VIDEO EVIDENCE WAS NOT ONLY IRRELEVANT BUT IMPERMISSIBLE HEARSAY EVIDENCE

The Magistrate correctly excluded irrelevant video evidence from the proceeding below. Not only was the evidence not relevant to the case, the video was an out of court statement, the Appellant attempted to use for the truth of the matter asserted. Hearsay is a statement that is (1) oral or written assertion or (2) nonverbal conduct of a person, if it is intended by the person as an assertion. S.C.R.E. Rule 801(a). A declarant is a person who makes a statement. S.C.R.E. Rule 801(b). Hearsay is defined as “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” S.C.R.E. Rule 801(c). A statement will not be hearsay if “the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is (A) inconsistent with the declarant’s testimony, or (B) consistent with the declarant’s testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant. S.C.R.E. Rule 801(d)(1).

Mr. Moses was not present at the eviction hearing to testify as to the video evidence Appellant intended to introduce as evidence. The Declarant was not available to testify, therefore the statements contained in the video were out of court statements. Certainly, videos have been allowed for other purposes, as evidenced in *Hawkins v. Pathology Associates of Greenville, P.A.*, where a video to show a close familial bond between the decedent, her husband, and children was admitted. 330 S.C. 92, 498 S.E.2d 395 (Ct. App. 1998). Here, Appellant is attempting to use video evidence containing out of court statements alleging CCHRA Board Chairman, Mr. Sandino Moses, offered a unilateral contract not to evict the Appellant. Not only was Mr. Moses not present for the eviction proceeding, but use of the out of court statements should be precluded where Appellant is offering them for the truth of the matter asserted.

Appellant received the Eviction Proceeding Rules and opted not to call any witnesses prior to her hearing, including Mr. Moses. Since Appellant intends to offer Ms. Moses' statements made during an interview as the truth of the matter asserted, which is accepting an offer by CCHRA not to pay rent, the statements must be excluded as they are out of court statements. In addition, the statements are misconstrued where the Board Chairman does not have the authority to offer such rental relief, a contradiction of HUD requirements for payment of rent.

II. APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS WAS NOT VIOLATED

A. DUE PROCESS UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW

Article V Section 4A of the South Carolina Constitution grants authority to determine a defendant's due process rights and whether they have been violated by procedural methods employed during a trial. *State v. Beaty*, 2018 S.C. LEXIS 48 at 23-24 (2018). "Due Process is not a technical concept with fixed parameters unrelated to time, place, and circumstances; rather it is a flexible concept that calls for such procedural protections as the situation demands." *State v. Legg*, 416 S.C. 9, 13, 785 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2016). Procedural due process contemplates a fair trial. *Id.* Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of liberty or property interests within the meaning of Due Process Clause of the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 332, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. S.C. Const. art. 1 § 22. Due process does not require a trial-type hearing in every conceivable case of government impairment of a private interest. *First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Walterboro v. Bd. of Bank Control*, 263 S.C. 59, 65, 207 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1974). Due process requires (1) adequate notice;

(2) adequate opportunity for a hearing; (3) the right to introduce evidence; and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. *Clear Channel Outdoor v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 372 S.C. 230, 235, 642 S.E.2d 565, 567 (2007).

The *In re Bilton*, court agreed with the holding that “due process ‘requires any hearsay basis evidence to meet minimum requirements of reliability and relevance’ before the evidence can be admitted in a civil commitment proceeding. 432 S.C. 157, 164, 851 S.E.2d 442, 445 (Ct. App. 2020) citing *State v. Floyd Y.*, 22 N.Y.3d 95, 979, N.Y.S.2d 240, 2 N.E.3d 204, 209 (N.Y. 2013) quoting *People v. Goldstein*, 6 N.Y.3d 119, 843 N.E.2d 727, 731, 810 N.Y.S.2d 100 (N.Y. 2005). This court has held a tenant’s due process rights have not been violated. See *Gaylord v. Gainey*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 64 at *1 (Feb. 21, 2024). In *Gaylord*, the appellant argued the circuit court erred by affirming the magistrate’s order for eviction since the magistrate violated her right to due process, violated federal law by holding a hearing, and erred by allowing a hearing based on a retaliatory eviction. *Id.* The Court of Appeals found Gaylord’s due process rights were not violated since Gaylord had notice of the hearing, was represented by counsel, and her attorney had the right to call witnesses, cross-examine witnesses, and present evidence. *Id.* See *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 490, 548 S.E.2d 605, 608 (Ct. App. 2001)(“The Court of Appeals will presume an affirmance by a Circuit Court of a magistrate’s judgment was made upon the merits when testimony is sufficient to sustain the magistrate’s judgment and there are no facts showing the affirmance was influenced by an error of law.”).

In *Gaylord*, the court found they were not properly before the court since there was no evidence Gaylord raised the issues before the magistrate court and the circuit court. 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 64 at *2; See *State v. Bailey*, 368 S.C. 39, 43-44, 626 S.E.2d 898, 900 (Ct. App. 2006)(holding in an appeal from magistrate’s court to circuit court, where an issue was never

brought to the attention of the circuit court, it was not appropriate for this court to review the issue); *City of Columbia v. Ervin*, 330 S.C. 516, 519-20, 500 S.E.2d 483, 485 (1998)(holding the Court of Appeals should not have addressed the merits of an issue on appeal because the issue was not raised to the circuit court as the intermediate appellate court and therefore could not be raised for the first time in our Supreme Court of Court of Appeals).

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